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To the Shareholders of Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fujairah Building Industries 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 
2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Standards). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. 

31 December 2022 
 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

Valuation of inventories 

See note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit 

As described in the accounting policies in 
note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements, inventories are carried at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. As a 
result, the management applies judgment in 
determining the appropriate provisions for 
obsolete stock based on its ageing and 
anticipated future selling price. 

We identified the valuation of inventories as 
a key audit matter because determining 
appropriate provisions involves predicting 
the excess quantities of stocks which will 
remain unused or unsold after the end of the 
reporting period, which can be inherently 
uncertain and requires the exercise of 
significant management judgement. 

controls operating over inventories. 

items in the inventories ageing report 
were classified within the appropriate 
ageing bracket by comparing individual 
items in the report with underlying 
documentation, which included purchase 
invoices and goods received notes. 

realisable value by comparing cost to 
recent selling prices and assessing the 
reasonableness of any resulting write 
down of inventory items. 

at the reporting date were consistent with 

by recalculating the provisions based on 
the relevant parameters in the policy. 

provisions for inventories by examining 
the utilisation or release of provisions 
recorded as at year end and new 
provisions made in the current year in 
respect of inventories in hand. 
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. 

31 December 2022 
 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

 

Expected credit loss on trade receivables 

See Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit 

As described in the accounting policies in 
note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements, impairment of trade receivables 
is determined through the expected credit 
loss (ECL) model.  

Trade receivables comprise 11% of the 

and involves significant estimates and 
judgements for the determination of 
expected credit loss on trade receivables. 

and assessed the appropriateness of the 
ECL methodology against the 
requirements of IFRS 9. 

losses model by reviewing 

credit losses of its receivables, testing 
the completeness and accuracy of data 
inputs in the model and evaluating the 
forward looking factors. 

those used to calculate the likelihood of 
default and the subsequent loss on 
default, by comparing to historical data. 
We also assessed the reasonableness of 
forward looking factors used by the 
Group. 

correspondences with external parties to 
assess the recoverability of significant 
overdue outstanding receivables. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

 

 

 
 



         

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited, licensed in the United Arab Emirates, and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms  
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 
KPMG Lower Gulf Limited (Dubai Branch) is registered and licensed under the laws of the United Arab Emirates.

7 

Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. 

31 December 2022 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS Standards and their preparation in 
compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 
2021 and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

reporting process. 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

cease to continue as a going concern. 
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. 

31 December 2022 
 

(continued) 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 Further, as required by the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 we report that for 
the year ended 31 December 2022: 

i)  we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary 
for the purposes of our audit; 

ii)  the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all 
material respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law 
No. 32 of 2021; 

iii)  the Group has maintained proper books of account; 

iv)  the financial information included in the Directors' report is consistent with the 
books of account of the Group; 

v)        as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has 
not purchased any shares during the year ended 31 December 2022; 

vi)        note 29 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party 
transactions and the terms under which they were conducted; 
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. 

31 December 2022 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued) 

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come
to our attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened
during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 any of the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 or in respect of the
Company, its Articles of Association, which would materially affect its activities
or its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2022.

viii) note 7 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions
made during the year ended 31 December 2022.

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited 

Fawzi AbuRass 
Registration No.: 968 
Fujairah, United Arab Emirates 

Date: 
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
for the year ended 31 December 2022 

 
The notes set out on pages 16 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 4 to 9.  

  2022 2021 
    Note AED AED 
Continuing operations    
Revenue 5 171,428,926     174,556,736  
Cost of sales 6 (110,538,581)    (106,575,731) 
  ---------------- ---------------- 
Gross profit  60,890,345       67,981,005  
    
Administrative and general expenses 7 (20,069,896) (20,930,630) 
Selling and distribution expenses 8 (24,352,402)      (21,741,765) 
Impairment reversal / (loss) on trade receivables      31(a) 470,264 (227,226) 
Other income 9 1,835,546         2,301,687  
  -------------- -------------- 
Operating profit  18,773,857       27,383,071  
    
Finance costs 10 (3,308,016)    (3,760,640) 
Finance income 10 1,340,216         1,333,576  
Dividend income      13(ii) 530,123            675,817  
  -------------- -------------- 
Profit from continuing operations  17,336,180       25,631,824  
    
Loss from discontinued operation 32 (19,117)             (15,373) 
  -------------- -------------- 
Profit for the year  17,317,063       25,616,451  
  ======== ======== 
    
Profit attributable to:    
Owners of the Company  17,317,063 25,616,451 
Non-controlling interests  - - 
  -------------- -------------- 
Profit for the year  17,317,063 25,616,451 
  ======== ======== 
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2022 

 
  2022 2021 
 Note AED AED 
    
Profit for the year  17,317,063 25,616,451 
    
Other comprehensive income:    
    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    
    
Net change in fair value of investments carried at FVOCI 13 861,058          5,243,307 
  -------------- -------------- 
Total comprehensive income for the year  18,178,121 30,859,758  
  ======== ======== 
Total comprehensive income attributable to:    
Owners of the Company  18,178,121 30,859,758  
Non-controlling interests  - - 
  -------------- -------------- 
Total comprehensive income for the year  18,178,121 30,859,758  
  ======== ======== 
Earnings per share 
 

   

Basic and diluted – continuing operations 28 0.13  0.19 
   === === 
Basic and diluted – discontinued operation 28 (0.00) (0.00) 
  ==== ==== 
 
The notes set out on pages 16 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 4 to 9.
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2022 

  2022 2021 
  Note AED AED 
Operating activities    
Profit for the year  17,317,063 25,616,451 
Adjustments for:    
Reversal of excess advances, provisions and accruals 9 - (829,080) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 10 3,185,619 3,433,499 
Interest expense on bank borrowings 10 122,397 327,141 
Interest income on fixed deposits 10 (1,340,216) (1,333,576) 
Depreciation (including right-of-use assets) 11(iii) 25,821,912 27,402,335 
Dividend income 13(ii)  (530,123) (675,817) 
Reversal of allowance for slow moving inventories 14  (1,102,988) (1,890,384) 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 26 991,333 976,559 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 (114,399) - 
Impairment (reversal) / loss on trade receivables  31(a) (470,264) 260,782 

  -------------- -------------- 
  43,880,334 53,287,910 

Change in inventories  (6,566,720) 5,749,996 
Change in trade receivables  (1,340,454) (2,918,355) 
Change in advances, deposits and other receivables  
(including long term receivables and contract assets) 

 
1,975,810 

 
(5,031,803) 

Change in trade and other payables   (44,963) 5,301,650 
Employees’ end-of-service benefits paid 26 (917,708) (1,196,614) 
Board of Directors’ remuneration paid 23 (1,260,000)  (1,260,000) 
  -------------- -------------- 
Net cash generated from operating activities  35,726,299 53,932,783 
  -------------- -------------- 
Investing activities    
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (11,213,092) (9,948,314) 
Interest received  1,340,216 1,825,300 
Investment in fixed deposits  (5,000,000) (131,500,000) 
Proceeds from redemption of fixed deposits  27,000,000 128,523,000 
Proceeds from sale of investments carried at FVOCI 13 7,058,318 14,024,134 
Dividend received  530,123 675,817 
  ------------ ------------ 
Net cash generated from investing activities  19,715,565 3,599,937 
  ------------ ------------ 
Financing activities    
Bank borrowings repaid 24 (7,111,111)   (7,111,111) 
Lease liabilities paid 25 (12,678,427) (7,443,490) 
Dividend paid 23 (40,796,250) (40,796,250) 
Interest paid  (122,397) (365,323) 
  --------------- --------------- 
Net cash used in financing activities  (60,708,185) (55,716,174) 
  --------------- --------------- 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (5,266,321) 1,816,546 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  22,905,132 21,088,586 
  -------------- -------------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  17,638,811 22,905,132 
  ======== ======== 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:    
Cash in hand and banks – continuing operations 19 17,566,489 22,535,128 
Cash in banks – discontinued operation  32 72,322 370,004 
  -------------- -------------- 

  17,638,811 22,905,132 
  ======== ======== 

 

The notes on pages 16 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 4 to 9.
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 
 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2022 

 

 

  

 
Share 

capital 
Statutory 

reserve 

Fair value reserve 
of investments 

carried at FVOCI 
Retained 
earnings Total  

 AED AED AED AED AED 
      
At 1 January 2021 135,987,500 45,800,859 49,866,997 135,323,911 366,979,267 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Profit for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
25,616,451 

 
25,616,451 

Other comprehensive income for the year - - 5,243,307 - 5,243,307 
 --------------- -------------- ------------ -------------- ------------- 
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 5,243,307 25,616,451  30,859,758 
 --------------- -------------- ------------ -------------- ------------- 
Transactions with owners of the 
Company, recorded directly in equity 

 
 

    

Dividend declared (refer note 23) - - - (40,796,250) (40,796,250) 
Board of directors’ remuneration (refer note 23) - - - (1,260,000) (1,260,000) 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- 
Total transactions with owners of the 
Company, recorded directly in equity 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(42,056,250) 

 
(42,056,250) 

 --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- 
      
Other movements      
Transfer to statutory reserve (refer note 21) - 2,561,645 - (2,561,645) - 
Transfer on sale of investments carried at FVOCI (refer note 22) - - (2,500,340) 2,500,340 - 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- 
Total other movements - 2,561,645 (2,500,340) (61,305) - 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- --------------- 
At 31 December 2021 135,987,500 48,362,504 52,609,964 118,822,807  355,782,775 
 ========= ======== ======== ========= ========= 
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Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2022  

 

 
The notes on pages 16 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 
Share 

capital 
Statutory 

reserve 

Fair value reserve 
of investments 

carried at FVOCI 
Retained 
earnings Total  

 AED AED AED AED AED 
      
At 1 January 2022 135,987,500 48,362,504 52,609,964 118,822,807   355,782,775 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Profit for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 17,317,063 17,317,063 

Other comprehensive income for the year -  -  861,058 -  861,058 
 --------------- -------------- ------------ -------------- ------------- 
Total comprehensive income for the year -  -  861,058 17,317,063 18,178,121 
 --------------- -------------- ------------ -------------- ------------- 
Transactions with owners of the 
Company, recorded directly in equity 

 
 

    

Dividend declared (refer note 23) - - - (40,796,250) (40,796,250) 
Board of directors’ remuneration (refer note 23) - - - (1,260,000) (1,260,000) 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Total transactions with owners of the 
Company, recorded directly in equity - - - (42,056,250) (42,056,250) 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- --------------- 
      
Other movements      
Transfer to statutory reserve (refer note 21) - 1,731,706 - (1,731,706) - 
Transfer on sale of investments carried at FVOCI (refer note 22) - - (2,628,469) 2,628,469 - 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- 
Total other movements - 1,731,706 (2,628,469) 896,763 - 
 --------------- -------------- -------------- --------------- --------------- 
At 31 December 2022 135,987,500 50,094,210 50,842,553 94,980,383 331,904,646 
 ========= ======== ======== ========= ========= 
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Notes  
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1.  Reporting entity 
 

Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. (“the Company” or “the Holding Company”) was 
incorporated as an establishment in 1979 in the Emirate of Fujairah, United Arab Emirates 
(“UAE”). Subsequently, the legal status of the Company was changed to Public Joint Stock 
Company in 1991. The registered address of the Company is P.O. Box 383, Fujairah, UAE. The 
Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (“ADX”), UAE. 
 

The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group” and individually as “the 
Group entities”). The Group’s subsidiaries and the principal activities of the subsidiaries have 
been disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

The principal activities of the Group comprise production and sales of blocks, interlocks, 
kerbstones, ceramic tiles, rockwool insulation materials, marble products, terrazzo tiles and 
quarry products. 
 

2.  Basis of preparation 
 

(a) Statement of compliance 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the applicable requirements of UAE 
Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021. 
 
On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021 was issued and came into 
effect on 2 January 2022 which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015. Companies have   
(1) one year from 2 January 2022 to comply with the provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law 
No. (32) of 2021. The Company is in the process of amending its Articles of Association to be 
fully compliant with the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021. These amendments once 
finalized will be put before its general assembly for approval. 
 

Details of the Group’s accounting policies are included in note 3. 
      

(b) Basis of measurement 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention 
except for investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 
which are carried at fair value. 
 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in UAE Dirhams (“AED”), which is the 
Group’s functional currency. 

         
(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s significant accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by the management on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognized prospectively. 
 

Information about judgments, assumptions and estimation uncertainties in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements is included in note 35. 
 

(e) Measurement of fair values 
 

A number of Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, 
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. The Group has an established control 
framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. 



 
 
Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 
 

Notes (continued) 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
     
(e) Measurement of fair values (continued) 
 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data 
as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based 
on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:  
 

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).  
 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the 
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same 
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement. 
 

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred.  
 

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in note 13 
– Investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

    

3.  Significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise a consolidation of the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. 
 

Business combinations  
 

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired 
set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the 
Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group 
assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and 
substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.  
 

The Group has an option to apply a concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of 
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration test 
is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single 
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.  
 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 
 

 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 
 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 
 if the business combination has been achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity 

interest in the acquire; less 
 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed. 
 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in the profit or 
loss. 
 

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If an 
obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

 Business combinations (continued) 
 

Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and 
subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 
 

Subsidiaries 
  

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group control exists when it is exposed to 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when 
necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group.  
 

All subsidiaries have their reporting date as 31 December. 
 
 

Non-controlling interests (NCI) 
 

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the identifiable net assets at the reporting date. 
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. Losses applicable to non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are 
allocated to non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have 
a deficit balance.   
 

 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
  

  Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from 
intra-group transactions, are eliminated.  

 

Loss of control 
 

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair 
value when control is lost. 
 

(b) Revenue from contracts with customers 
 

 

Sale of goods              

 Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The 
Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. For 
contracts that permit the customer to return an item, revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will 
not occur. Therefore, the amount of revenue recognised is adjusted for expected returns, which 
are estimated based on the historical data. In these circumstances, a refund liability and a right to 
recover returned goods asset are recognised. 

 

The right to recover returned goods asset is measured at the former carrying amount of the 
inventory less any expected costs to recover goods. The Group reviews its estimate of expected 
returns at each reporting date and updates the amounts of the asset and liability accordingly.  

 

Contract revenue 
  

The Group performs contracting related to supply and installation of marble and tiles. The project 
length depends on the complexity of the contract and is subject to site clearance. Payment is not 
due from the customer until the services are complete, invoiced and certified. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
  

(b) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
 
 

Contract revenue (continued) 
  

Revenue is recognised over time based on the stage of completion of the contract which is 
assessed based on surveys of work performed. Contract asset is recognised over the period in 
which the services are performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the services 
performed to date. 
 

(c) Property, plant and equipment 
 

Recognition and measurement 
 

Items of property plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.  

 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes the following:  

 

• cost of materials and direct labour;  
• any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their 

intended use; and  
• capitalized borrowing costs. 

 

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then 
they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.  

 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the 
profit or loss.  

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and 
are ready for use.  

 

Subsequent expenditure  
 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance is 
expensed as incurred. 
 

Depreciation  
 

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less 
their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives 
unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 
 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for the current and comparative years 
are as follows:  

      Life (years) 
Leasehold land  13 – 15 
Buildings and leasehold improvements  5 – 20 
Plant and equipment   5 – 15  
Heavy equipment and vehicles  4 – 15 
Furniture and fixtures  2 – 5  
 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. 
 

(d) Capital-work-in-progress 
 

Capital-work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment, if any, until the construction is 
completed. Upon completion of construction, the cost of such assets together with the cost 
directly attributable to construction, including capitalized borrowing costs are transferred to the 
respective class of asset. No depreciation is charged on capital-work-in-progress. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Inventories  
 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is 
based on the monthly weighted average cost principle, and includes expenditure incurred in 
acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing 
them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories, cost 
includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.  
 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
 

(f)         Contract assets/ liabilities 
 

Contracts-in-progress represent the gross amount expected to be collected from customers for 
contract work performed to date. They are measured at costs incurred plus profits recognized to 
date (refer revenue policy for contracts) less progress billings and recognized losses.  
 

In the statement of financial position, contracts-in-progress for which costs incurred plus 
recognized profits exceed progress billings and recognized losses are presented as contracts 
assets. Contracts for which progress billings and recognized losses exceed costs incurred plus 
recognized profits are presented as contract liabilities. Advances received from customers are 
presented as billings in excess of valuation. 
 

(g)        Dividend income 
 

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive the 
payment is established. 

 

(h)         Foreign currency 
 

Foreign currency transactions 
 

             Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of      
Group at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  

 

             Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at 
the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss. 

 

(i) Discontinued operation 
 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows 
of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which: 
 

- represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations; 
- is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or 

geographic area of operations; or 
- is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

 

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation 
meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale. 

 

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued 
from the start of the comparative year. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j)         Employee benefits 
 

Short- term employee benefits  
 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

Staff terminal and retirement benefits 
 

Defined contribution plan 
 

Under UAE Federal Law No. 7 of 1999 for Pension and Social Security, employers are required 
to contribute 12.5% of the ‘contribution calculation salary’ of those employees who are UAE 
nationals. These employees are also required to contribute 5% of the ‘contribution calculation 
salary’ to the scheme. The Group’s contribution is recognised as an expense in profit or loss as 
incurred. 

 

Defined benefit plan 
 

Terminal and retirement benefits for all staff, other than those who are UAE nationals, disclosed 
as a long-term liability, are payable in accordance with the UAE Federal Labour Law. The 
provision for such benefits is determined as follows: 
 

a) making a reliable estimate of the amount of benefit that employees have earned in return for 
their service in the current and prior years. This requires estimating the demographic 
variables and financial variables that will influence the cost of the benefit; 

b) discounting that benefit in order to determine the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation and the current service cost; and 

c) any gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.  
 

(k)         Financial Instruments 
 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets and liabilities into financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), financial assets at amortised cost and other financial 
liabilities category. 

  

(i) Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – recognition and derecognition 
  

 Trade and retention receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

 A financial asset (unless it is a trade or retention receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade or retention 
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction 
price. 

 

(ii) Non-derivative financial assets – classification and measurement  
 

 On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, FVOCI – debt 
instruments, at FVOCI – equity instruments or at FVTPL. The classification of financial assets 
under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and 
its contractual cash flow characteristics. Of the aforementioned, only FVOCI – equity 
instruments and the ‘amortised cost’ categories are relevant to the Group. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k)         Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

(ii) Non-derivative financial assets – classification and measurement (continued) 
 

 Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model. 
 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is 
not designated as at FVTPL: 
– it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 
– its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

 

Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest 
 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset 
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for 
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time 
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well 
as a profit margin. 
 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual 
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers: 

 

– contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
– terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features; 
– prepayment and extension features; and 
– terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 

features). 
 

 A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if 
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early 
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium 
to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that 
substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest 
(which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as 
consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial 
recognition. 
 

 On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This 
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 
 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset 
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL 
if doing so eliminated or significantly reduces the accounting mismatch that would otherwise 
arise. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k)         Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

(ii) Non-derivative financial assets – classification and measurement (continued) 
 

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 

Financial assets at FVTPL  
 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains or losses, including any interest 
or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

Equity investments at FVOCI 
 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in 
profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the 
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit 
or loss. 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost  
 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition 
is recognized in profit or loss. 
 

Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised 
in profit or loss. 

 

(iii) Derecognition 
 

Financial assets 
 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a 
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 
 
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of 
financial position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not recognised. 
 

Financial liabilities 
 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified 
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new 
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.  
 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k)         Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

(iv) Offsetting  
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to 
set off the amounts and it intends to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously. 
 

(l) Share capital 
 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a 
deduction from equity. 
 

(m) Impairment 
 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets – Financial instruments and contract assets 
 

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost, 
which are disclosed as part of trade receivables, retention receivables and contract assets. 
 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for: 
- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date: and 
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring 

over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition.  

 

Loss allowances for trade receivables, retention receivables and contract assets are always 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 
 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 
 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 180 days past due. 
  

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its 
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such realising 
security (if any is held). 
 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from default events that are possible over the expected 
life of a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default 
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the 
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum period considered when 
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit 
risk. 

 

Measurement of ECLs 
 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). 

 

 ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(m) Impairment (continued) 
 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets – Financial instruments and contract assets (continued) 
 

Credit-impaired financial assets 
 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are 
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
 

– significant financial difficulty of the borrower or debtor; 
– a breach of contract (such as a default); 
– the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise; 
– it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 
 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets. 
 

Impairment losses are assessed for related trade and retention receivables, contract assets, cash 
at banks, refundable deposits and certain other receivables and are presented separately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income. 

 

 Assets that are individually significant are tested individually whereas others are grouped 
together with financial assets of similar credit risk characteristics and assessed collectively. 

 
 Impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be objectively related to an event that have 

occurred after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets that are measured at 
amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in statement of profit or loss. 
 

Write-off 
 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For its customers, 
the Group individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off 
based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant 
recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be 
subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of 
amounts due. 

 

(ii) Non-financial assets  
 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets 
or cash-generating unit (“CGU”). All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(m) Impairment (continued) 
 

(ii) Non-financial assets (continued) 
 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset or CGU. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. 

 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

 

(n) Provisions 
 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.  

 

(o) Finance income and costs 
 

Finance income comprises interest income on fixed deposits. Interest income is recognised as it 
accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 

 

Finance costs comprises interest expense on bank borrowings and lease liabilities and are 
recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.  
 
All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss except for those costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets that are capitalised 
as part of the cost of  that asset when it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits 
to the Group and the costs can be measured reliably. The capitalisation of borrowing costs 
commences from the date of incurring the expenditure relating to the qualifying asset and ceases 
when all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are 
complete. Borrowing costs relating to the period after acquisition, construction or production are 
expensed.  

 

(p) Leases 
 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

 

As a lessee  
 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative 
stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 
component. 
 

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the 
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus 
any material initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of material costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any 
lease incentives received. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(p) Leases (continued) 
 

As a lessee (continued) 
 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset 
reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as 
those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced 
by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses 
its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:  
 

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate as at the commencement date; 
- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise 
an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is 
reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or 
rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

 

The Group presents right-of-use assets under ‘property plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities 
separately in the statement of financial position. 
 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  
 

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with 
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

(q) Earnings per share  
 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic 
earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.  
 

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(r) Segment reporting  
 

An operating segment is a component of the Group which engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  
 

Segment results which are reported to the Company’s CEO (chief operating decision maker) 
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those which can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis.  
 

(s) Fair value  
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its 
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value 
of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.  
 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair 
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  

The Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market 
for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 
 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that 
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The 
chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into 
account in pricing a transaction.  
 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group 
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 
 
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group 
determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair 
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability 
nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be 
insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at 
fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the 
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate 
basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by 
observable market data or the transaction is closed out.  
 

(t) New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning after 1 January 2022 and early adoption is permitted; however, the Group has 
not early adopted the new or amended standards in these consolidated financial statements. 
 

The following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application 
 

- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (amendments 
to IAS 12); 

- Disclosure of Accounting Polices (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2); 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(t) New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

- Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8); 
- Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1); and 
- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. 

 

4.  Financial risk management 
 

Overview 
 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
- credit risk 
- liquidity risk  
- market risk  

 

Risk management framework 
 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s 
management of capital.  

 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s senior management are responsible for 
developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies and report regularly to the 
Board of Directors on their activities. The Group’s current financial risk management framework 
is a combination of formally documented risk management policies in certain areas and informal 
risk management practices in others. 
 

The Group’s risk management policies (both formal and informal) are established to identify and 
analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor 
risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training 
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by the Internal Audit Department. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad 
hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the 
Audit Committee. 
 

The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities comprise bank borrowings, lease liabilities and 
trade and other payables (excluding advances to suppliers). The Group has various financial 
assets such as trade receivables, retention receivables, other receivables, fixed deposits and cash 
at banks. 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Risk management framework (continued) 
 

Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group, if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises primarily from the Group’s trade 
receivables, retention receivables, other receivables and cash at banks. 

 

 Trade and retention receivables 
 

 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. The demographics of Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry 
in which customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. The Group establishes an 
allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of expected credit losses in respect of trade 
receivables and retention receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss 
component that relates to individually significant exposures.  

 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only dealing with banks of repute and credit 
ratings. 
 

Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
Liquidity risk mainly relates to trade and other payables (excluding advances), bank borrowings 
and lease liabilities. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation. 

 

The Group currently has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, 
including the servicing of financial obligations. 
 

Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

 

Currency risk 
 

Exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise as the Group undertakes certain transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies. There are no significant currency risks, as substantially all 
financial assets and financial liabilities are denominated in either AED or United States Dollar 
(which is pegged to AED).  

 

Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the net interest 
expense of the Group, where the Group has borrowings with variable rates. The interest rate on 
the Group’s financial liabilities which consists of mainly bank borrowings is based on market 
rates. 
 

Equity risk 
 

Equity price risk arises from marketable equity securities measured at FVOCI. Management of 
the Group monitors the mix of equity securities in its investment portfolio to maximise investment 
returns, which is the primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy. 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 

Risk management framework (continued) 
 

Market risk (continued) 
 

Equity risk (continued) 
 

The Group’s quoted and unquoted equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising 
from uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity 
price risk through diversification and by placing limits on individual and total equity assets and 
liabilities.  
 

The primary goal of the Group’s investment in equity securities is to hold the investments for the 
long term for strategic purposes. 
 

Capital management 
 
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  
 
The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with 
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.  
 

 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 
 

5.  Revenue 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   
Sale of goods – point in time 166,453,317 165,792,189 
Contract revenue – over time 4,975,609  8,764,547 

 --------------- --------------- 
 171,428,926 174,556,736 
 ========= ========= 

  
  Disaggregation of revenue by segments and geographical markets 

 

 2022 2021 
 AED AED 
Segments   

     Concrete Products 73,506,344 73,758,024 
Rockwool Products 71,099,865  63,527,163 
Quarry Products 9,812,322 15,260,595 
Marbles and tiles 17,010,395 22,010,954 

 --------------- --------------- 
 171,428,926 174,556,736 
 ========= ========= 

Geographical markets   
Within UAE 167,551,886  171,441,117 
Outside UAE 3,877,040  3,115,619  

 --------------- --------------- 
 171,428,926 174,556,736 

 ========= ========= 
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6.  Cost of sales 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   
Raw materials at the beginning of the year 6,961,502  9,378,830 
Purchases during the year 48,845,037 33,227,101 
Raw materials at the end of the year (refer note 14) (5,891,969) (6,961,502) 
 ------------- ------------- 

Raw materials consumed  49,914,570  35,644,429 
Labour costs 16,259,070  15,628,265 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  
(including ROU assets) (refer note 11(iii)) 

 
17,761,859  

 
18,598,797 

Manufacturing overhead 34,299,643  36,972,114 
Allowance for slow-moving inventories (refer note 14) (1,102,988) (1,890,384) 
 --------------- --------------- 
Cost of goods manufactured 117,132,154 104,953,221 
Finished goods at the beginning of the year 23,207,784 24,830,294 
Finished goods at the end of the year (refer note 14) (29,801,357) (23,207,784) 
 --------------- --------------- 

Cost of sales 110,538,581 106,575,731 
 ========= ========= 
   

 
7.  Administrative and general expenses 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   

Salaries and related benefits 12,570,778 12,290,568 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  
(including ROU assets) (refer note 11(iii)) 3,811,545 

 
4,414,785 

Legal, visa and professional expenses 705,780  1,165,955 
Social contribution (refer (i) below) 539,888 914,860 
Telephone and communication  347,581  613,828 
Utilities 198,542  309,864 
Insurance  131,965 163,930 
Vehicle expenses  209,960 129,782 
Others 1,553,857 927,058 

 ------------- ------------- 

 20,069,896 20,930,630 
 ======== ======== 

 

(i) This represents social contributions in the form of free of cost goods issued to ‘Fujairah 
Foundation for Regional Development’ for the development of local communities based 
in the Fujairah region.  
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8.  Selling and distribution expenses 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   

Salaries and other related benefits 8,475,241 8,692,606 
Vehicle expenses 8,504,938 4,428,329 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  
(including ROU assets) (refer note 11(iii)) 

 
4,248,508 

 
4,388,753 

Government fees on crusher sales 1,014,593 1,668,169 
Advertisement and business promotion 496,461 210,955 
Telephone and communication 465,865 498,254 
Legal, visa and professional expenses 408,079 469,816 
Insurance 221,634 248,105 
Bank charges 196,340 227,189 
Rent  246,364 222,274 
Others 74,379 687,315 

 -------------- -------------- 

 24,352,402 21,741,765 
 ======== ======== 

 
9.  Other income 
 2022 2021 

 AED AED 
   

Sale of scrap 824,715 1,204,174 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 114,399 - 
Others 896,432 268,433 
Reversal of unclaimed advances and  
excess accruals (refer note 27(i)) - 

 
829,080 

 ------------ ------------ 
 1,835,546 2,301,687 

 ======= ======= 
 

10.  Finance costs and income 
 2022 2021 
 

Finance costs 
AED AED 

Interest on lease liabilities (refer note 25) 3,185,619 3,433,499 
Interest on bank borrowings 122,397 327,141 
 ------------ ------------ 
 3,308,016 3,760,640 
 ------------ ------------ 

Finance income     
Interest on fixed deposits  1,340,216 1,333,576 
 ------------ ------------ 

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss  1,967,800 2,427,064 
 ======= ======= 
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11.    Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
 

Leasehold 
Buildings  

and leasehold 
 

Plant and 
Heavy 

equipment 
 

Furniture and 
 

Capital-work-in-   
 land improvements machinery and vehicles Fixtures progress (CWIP) Total 
 AED AED  AED  AED AED  AED  AED 

Cost        
At 1 January 2021 61,523,549 127,194,257 330,808,274 61,376,511 15,174,508 4,612,091 600,689,190 
Additions - 26,995 293,587 - 542,926 9,084,806 9,948,314 
Transfers from inventories 
(refer note (v) below) - - 1,282,467 - - 593,404 1,875,871 
Disposals -  (402,970)  (6,821,930)  (1,872,911)  (109,520) (60,170) (9,267,501) 
Transfers from CWIP - -  1,746,212  -  38,285   (1,784,497) - 
 -------------- --------------- ---------------  -------------- -------------- ------------- --------------- 
At 31 December 2021 61,523,549 126,818,282 327,308,610 59,503,600 15,646,199 12,445,634 603,245,874 

-------------- --------------- --------------- -------------- -------------- ------------ --------------- 
        

At 1 January 2022 61,523,549 126,818,282 327,308,610 59,503,600 15,646,199 12,445,634 603,245,874 
Additions - -  2,355,792   225,000   290,859   8,341,441   11,213,092  
Transfer from CWIP - -  140,588  - -  (140,588)  -  
Disposals  -   (6,328,663)  (325,697)  (747,500)  (43,059)  -   (7,444,919) 
 -------------- --------------- ---------------  -------------- -------------- ------------- --------------- 
At 31 December 2022  61,523,549   120,489,619   329,479,293   58,981,100   15,893,999   20,646,487   607,014,047  

 -------------- --------------- --------------- -------------- -------------- ------------- --------------- 
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11.  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

 

 
 

Leasehold 
Buildings and 

leasehold 
 

Plant and 
Heavy 

equipment 
 

Furniture   
 

Capital-work-in-   
 land improvements machinery and vehicles and fixtures progress (CWIP) Total 
 AED AED  AED  AED AED  AED  AED 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment  

 
      

At 1 January 2021 9,548,710 83,689,661 252,469,299 55,712,648 13,947,350 60,170 415,427,838 
Depreciation for the year  5,349,761   7,018,998   13,193,686   1,341,961   497,929  - 27,402,335 
On disposals -  (402,970)  (6,821,930)  (1,872,911)  (109,520) (60,170) (9,267,501) 
 ------------- -------------- --------------- -------------- ------------- --------- --------------- 
At 31 December 2021 14,898,471 90,305,689 258,841,055 55,181,698 14,335,759 - 433,562,672 
 ------------- -------------- --------------- -------------- ------------- -------- --------------- 
At 1 January 2022  14,898,471   90,305,689   258,841,055   55,181,698   14,335,759                          -   433,562,672  
Depreciation for the year  4,215,455   6,808,506   13,063,809   1,228,204   505,938   -   25,821,912 
On disposals  -   (4,497,911)  (325,699)  (747,500)  (43,059)  -   (5,614,169) 
 ------------- ------------- --------------- ------------- ------------- --------- --------------- 
At 31 December 2022  19,113,926   92,616,284   271,579,165   55,662,402   14,798,638   -   453,770,415  

 ------------- ------------- --------------- ------------- ------------- --------- --------------- 
Net book value        
At 31 December 2022  42,409,623   27,873,335   57,900,128   3,318,698   1,095,361   20,646,487   153,243,632  
 ======== ======== ======== ======= ======= ======== ========= 
At 31 December 2021  46,625,078   36,512,593  68,467,555   4,321,902   1,310,440  12,445,634 169,683,202 
 ======== ======== ======== ======= ======= ======= ========= 

 
 

 

(i)  Buildings are constructed on plots of land obtained on lease from the Government of Fujairah and are renewable on an annual basis. 
 

(ii) Capital-work-in-progress mainly comprises plant and machinery under installation and labour camp under construction (2021: plant and machinery 
under installation)
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11.       Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

(iii)  Depreciation 
   

Depreciation for the year (including ROU assets) has been allocated as follows: 
 

                 2022               2021 
                AED              AED 
   

Cost of sales (refer note 6) 17,761,859  18,598,797  
Selling and distribution expenses (refer note 8) 4,248,508  4,388,753  
Administrative and general expenses (refer note 7) 3,811,545 4,414,785 

 -------------- -------------- 
 25,821,912 27,402,335  
 ======== ======== 

 
(iv) Right-of-use-assets 

    

Right-of-use assets (ROU) are presented under ‘leasehold land’ and ‘building and leasehold 
improvements’ categories. Movement in these are as follows: 

 2022 2021 

  AED   AED  
Cost    
At 1 January and 31 December   68,082,395    68,082,395  
Termination of lease    (4,249,319) - 

 -------------   --------------  

  63,833,076    68,082,395  
Accumulated depreciation    

At 1 January   16,059,852    10,714,177  
Charge for the year     5,363,601      5,345,675  

  -------------   --------------  
At 31 December   21,423,453    16,059,852  

  -------------   --------------  
Carrying amount at 31 December   42,409,623    52,022,543  

  ========   ========  
 
Depreciation charge on the ROU assets is based on the lease terms of the respective leases and 
has been allocated to profit or loss for the year as follows: 

               2022               2021 
              AED              AED 
   

Cost of sales 2,414,389  2,400,296  
Selling and distribution expenses 2,065,643  2,080,989  
Administrative and general expenses 883,569  864,390  

 ------------ ------------ 
 5,363,601 5,345,675 
 ======= ======= 

 
 

(v) Transfer from inventories 

These pertain to capital spares which are consumed in the refurbishment of the machineries and 
are expected to be used for more than one accounting period. Thus, these have been reclassified 
from inventories to property, plant and equipment.   
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12.  Long term receivables 
 

                 2022               2021 
                AED              AED 
   

Refundable deposits 391,334 386,015 
Retention receivables 380,903 303,078 
 ---------- ---------- 
 772,237 689,093 

 ====== ====== 
 

(i) These represent non-current portion of deposits and retention receivables which have been 
reclassified from advances, deposits and other receivables (refer note 16). 

 

13.  Investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
 

                 2022               2021 
 AED AED 

Investment in equity securities:   
- Quoted  55,141,922 61,339,182 
- Unquoted (refer (iv) below)   1,586,000 1,586,000 
 -------------- -------------- 
 56,727,922 62,925,182 

 ========= ========= 
 

Movement in investments carried at FVOCI is as follows:  
                 2022               2021 

                AED              AED 
   
At 1 January 62,925,182 71,706,009 
Disposals during the year (refer (iii) below) (7,058,318) (14,024,134) 
Change in fair value 861,058 5,243,307 
 -------------- -------------- 
At 31 December 56,727,922 62,925,182 

 ========= ========= 

 

(i) Classification of investment in equity securities at FVOCI 
 

The Group designated the above investments as equity securities carried at FVOCI, as these 
equity securities represent investments that the Group intends to hold for long-term strategic 
purpose. 

 

(ii) Dividend income 
 

During the current year, dividend income of AED 0.53 million (2021: AED 0.68 million) has 
been recognised in ‘statement of profit or loss’ from investments in equity securities carried at 
FVOCI. 
  

(iii) Disposal of investments carried at FVOCI 
 

During the current year, the Group sold certain quoted investments carried at FVOCI for a sales 
consideration of AED 7.05 million (2021: AED 14.02 million). The fair value reserve of  
AED 2.63 million (2021: AED 2.50 million) pertaining to these investments has been transferred 
to retained earnings upon disposal (refer note 22). 
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13.       Investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 
 

(iv) Measurement of fair values – Unquoted securities 
 

Unquoted securities held by the Group are listed below: 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   
Fujairah Fresh Water (refer (a) below) 1,500,000 1,500,000 
ESCAN 86,000 86,000 

 ------------ ------------ 
 1,586,000 1,586,000 
 ======= ======= 

 

a. Valuation of Fujairah Fresh Water (“FFW”) 
 

Valuation technique 
 

The fair value of FFW has been performed internally by management, based on comparable 
market price approach having regards to transactional sales evidence of the said equity 
security. 
 

Significant unobservable input: 
 

Estimated market price of the un-quoted equity security having regards to the sales evidence. 
 
Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and fair value measurement 

 

Fair valuation of the un-quoted equity security would increase or decrease if there is a change 
in the type and number of the sales transactions of similar securities. 
 

14.       Inventories 
 

 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   
Raw materials            5,891,969  6,961,502 
Finished goods 29,801,357 23,207,784 
Spare parts          19,974,862  19,045,758 
Consumables            2,412,181  2,298,605 
 -------------- -------------- 
 58,080,369 51,513,649 
Less: allowance for slow-moving inventories         (14,031,853) (15,134,841) 
 -------------- -------------- 
 44,048,516 36,378,808 

 ======== ======== 
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14.       Inventories (continued) 
 

 Movement in provision for slow moving inventories is as follows:        
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 
   

At 1 January  15,134,841 17,025,225 
Reversal for the year (1,102,988) (1,890,384) 
 -------------- -------------- 
At 31 December  14,031,853  15,134,841 

 ======== ======== 
 

15.  Trade receivables 
                      2022                 2021 
                     AED                 AED 
   

Trade receivables 65,827,288 64,486,834 
Less: impairment loss on trade receivables (17,942,055) (18,412,319) 

 -------------- -------------- 
 47,885,233 46,074,515 

 ======== ======== 
 

16.  Advances, deposits and other receivables  
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   
Prepayments *   2,165,581  3,153,755 
Advances *  2,095,533  830,186 
Retention receivable  1,589,015  825,709 
Deposits   539,938  533,120 
Interest receivable  795,609  259,156 
Other receivables   45,220  84,597 

 ------------ ------------ 
Total advances, deposits and other receivables (a) 7,230,896  5,686,523 
Less: non-current portion (refer note 12)   
Deposits (391,334) (386,015) 
Retention receivable (380,903) (303,078) 
 ----------- ----------- 
Non-current portion classified under long term receivables (b) (772,237)  (689,093) 
      ----------- ----------- 

Current portion of advances, deposits and  
other receivables (a) – (b) * 

 
6,458,659 

 
4,997,430 

  ======= ======= 
* Represents non-financial assets. 
 

 

17.  Contract assets 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   

Costs plus attributable profit less foreseeable losses 4,149,054 10,093,438 
Less: progress billings received and receivable (1,860,227)  (4,581,990) 

 ------------ ------------ 
 2,288,827  5,511,448 
 ======= ======= 
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18.  Fixed deposits 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 
   

Fixed deposits with a bank 89,500,000 111,500,000 
 ========= ======== 

 

Fixed deposits carry markup at fixed commercial rates, have a maturity period of 12 months and 
have been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of presentation in the 
statements of cash flows. 

 

19.  Cash in hand and at banks 
        2022        2021 
 AED AED 
   

Cash in hand 280,319  246,294 
Cash at banks 17,286,170 22,288,834 

 ------------- ------------- 
Cash in hand and at banks 17,566,489 22,535,128 

 ======== ======== 
 

20.  Share capital 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

Authorised, issued and paid-up   
135,987,500 shares of AED 1 each  135,987,500 135,987,500 

 =========         ========= 
 

21.  Statutory reserve 
 

  In accordance with UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), a minimum of 10% of the net 
profit of the Group is allocated every year to a non-distributable statutory reserve. Such allocations 
may be ceased when the statutory reserve equals half of the paid-up share capital of the Company. 
This reserve is not available for distribution except in circumstances stipulated by the above-
mentioned law. During the current year, transfer of AED 1.73 million (2021: AED 2.56 million) 
has been made to the statutory reserve, which represents 10% of net profit for the year.  

 
22.       Fair value reserve of investments carried at FVOCI 
 

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of investments in equity 
securities carried at FVOCI until the respective investment is derecognised.  
 

Upon disposal of certain investments during the year, reserve amounting to AED 2.63 million 
(2021: AED 2.50 million) pertaining to these investments has been transferred to retained earnings 
(refer note 13(iii)). 
 

23.  Retained earnings 
 

Dividend 
 

At the annual general meeting held on 31 March 2022, the shareholders approved a 30% cash 
dividend (2021: 30%) of AED 40.8 million (2021: AED 40.8 million), which has been paid during 
the year. 
 

Board of directors’ remuneration 
 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 31 March 2022, the shareholders also approved the 
directors’ remuneration amounting to AED 1.26 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(2021: AED 1.26 million), which has been fully settled during the year. 
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24.       Bank borrowings 
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 
  

 
 

Term loan (refer (i) below) - 
======= 

7,111,111 
======= 

Movement in bank borrowings is set-out below:   
 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   
At 1 January  7,111,111 14,222,222 
Repayments during the year (7,111,111) (7,111,111) 
 ------------- ------------- 
At 31 December  - 7,111,111 
Less: current portion classified under current liabilities - (7,111,111) 

 ------------ ------------- 
Non-current portion of bank borrowings - - 

 ======= ======== 
 

(i) This represents draw down of AED 35 million from a medium-term loan facility of up to AED 
89 million, which carries interest at a 3-month EIBOR plus a spread of 2.75%. The borrowing 
facility was obtained by the Group to finance the installation of plant and machinery and 
construction of labour camp for a subsidiary, Fujairah Rockwool Factory. The loan has been 
repaid in October 2022. 
 

(ii) Bank borrowings are secured by: 
-  corporate guarantee by the Company in favour of the bank; and 
- assignment of certain insurance policies covering buildings, plant and machinery and 

inventories of a subsidiary. 
 

25.       Lease liabilities 
 

Leases as lessee 
 

The Group leases a number of land and staff accommodations under operating leases. Lease terms 
and rental calculations vary significantly between different lease agreements. The leases typically 
run for a period of 1 to 25 years. 
 

The Group also leases IT equipment and office spaces with contract terms of one or less than one 
year. These leases are short-term and / or leases of low value items. The Group has elected not to 
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases. 
 

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position 
 2022 2021
 AED AED 
 

At 1 January 57,385,837 61,395,828 
Interest on lease liabilities (refer note 10)                                          3,185,619                 3,433,499 
Less: Termination of lease (1,830,752) - 
Less: payments made against lease liabilities (12,678,427)   (7,443,490)  
      -------------  ------------- 
At 31 December 46,062,277  57,385,837 
Less: current portion of lease liabilities (3,168,155)   (4,343,970)  
 -------------- -------------- 
Non-current portion of lease liabilities 42,894,122 53,041,867 
 ======== ======== 
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25.       Lease liabilities (continued)  
  

Leases as lessee (continued) 
 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
                                                                                                 2022 2021 

AED AED 
   

Interest on lease liabilities (refer note 10)                                      3,185,619 3,433,499 
Depreciation expense (refer note 11(iv))                                       5,363,601 5,345,675 

 ------------ ------------ 
8,549,220 8,779,174 

 ======= ======= 
 

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 

 2022 
AED 

2021 
AED 

   

Total cash outflows for leases 12,678,427 7,443,490  
 ========  ======= 
 

Maturity analysis  
 
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payables showing the undiscounted lease 
payments to be payable after the reporting date: 
                                                                                                      2022 2021 
                                                                                                      AED AED 
   

Less than one year                                                                          6,822,103 7,529,589 
Between one and five years                                                            25,026,598 32,955,639 
More than five years                                                                       37,256,207  37,294,900 

                                                  -------------- -------------- 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December                 69,104,908  77,780,128  

                                                  ======== ======== 
  

26.  Employees’ end of service benefits 
 

 2022 2021 
 AED AED 
   

At 1 January 9,753,251 9,973,306 
Charge for the year 991,333 976,559 
Payments made during the year (917,708) (1,196,614) 
 ------------ ------------ 
At 31 December  9,826,876 9,753,251 

 ======= ======= 
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27.  Trade and other payables 
  2022 2021 

 AED AED 
   

Trade payables 25,683,666 22,018,231 
Accruals 3,092,607 3,784,551 
Advances from customers * 874,384 2,947,357  
Staff provisions (refer (i) below) 852,746 1,255,531 
VAT payable* 228,093 521,554 
Interest payable - 37,504 
Dividends payable 35,861 35,861 

 -------------- -------------- 
 30,767,357 30,600,589 
 ======== ======== 

* Represents non-financial liabilities. 
 

(i) During the current year, the Group has reversed certain excess provisions toward staff 
benefits amounting to AED Nil (2021: AED 0.8 million). 

 
28.  Earnings per share 

 2022 2021 
   

Profit for the year (AED) 17,317,063 25,616,451 
 ======== ======== 
Weighted average number of shares 135,987,500 135,987,500 
 ========= ========= 
Earnings per share (AED) – basic and diluted 0.13 0.19 
 === === 
Continuing operations   
Profit for the year (AED) 17,336,180 25,631,824 
 ======== 

 
======== 

Earnings per share (AED) – basic and diluted 0.13 0.19 
 === === 
Discontinued operation   
Loss for the year (AED) (19,117) (15,373) 
 ====== ====== 
Loss per share (AED) – basic and diluted (0.00) (0.00) 
 ==== === 

 

There was no dilution effect on the basic earnings per share, as the Group does not have any such 
outstanding commitments as at the reporting dates. 
 

29.  Related party transactions and balances 
  

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into transactions with other business 
enterprises which fall within the definition of related parties as contained in IAS 24 Related Party 
Disclosures. Related parties comprise entities under common ownership and/or common 
management and control; their partners and key management personnel. 
 

Management approves prices and terms of payment for these transactions and these are carried 
out at mutually agreed rates.  
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29.  Related party transactions and balances (continued) 
 
Significant related party transactions during the year were as follows: 

 2022 2021 
 AED AED 
   

Sales to related parties 11,334,358 9,504,486 
Purchases from related parties 77,563 912,061 

 ====== ====== 
Compensation to key management personnel   
Short term benefits 4,773,707 5,099,111 
Provision towards staff terminal benefits 203,340 142,545 
Board of directors’ remuneration 1,260,000  1,260,000 

 ======= ======= 
 

 Related party balances 
Balances due from related parties (included in trade receivables) 4,206,522 6,663,829 

 ======= ======= 
Balances due to related parties (included in trade and other payables) 22,957 - 

 ==== ====== 
 

30.  Contingent liabilities and commitments 
 2022 

AED 
2021 
AED 

   

Capital commitments 2,097,240 11,263,808 
 ======== ======== 
Letter of credit 2,995,125 1,177,930 

 ======= ======= 
 

31.       Financial instruments 
 
  Accounting classifications and fair values  

 
  The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy as stated in note 2. 
 
 The tables below shows financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 

periods, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is 
categorized. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities 
not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 AED AED AED AED 

31 December 2022     
Investments in equity securities  
carried at FVOCI  

  
55,141,922 

 
-  

 
1,586,000 

 
56,727,922 

 
31 December 2021 

======== === ======= ======== 

Investments in equity securities  
carried at FVOCI  61,339,182 - 1,586,000 62,925,182 

 ======== === ======= ======== 
 

A reconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances for fair value measurement 
of investments at FVOCI is stated in note 13. 
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31.       Financial instruments (continued) 
 

 Financial risk management 
  

 Financial assets of the Group comprise of cash at banks, fixed deposits, trade receivables, contract 
assets and other receivables (including advances, deposits and long term receivables). Financial 
liabilities of the Group comprise of trade and other payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings. 
Accounting policies for financial assets and financial liabilities are set out in note 3. 

 

a) Credit risk 
 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets (net of impairment losses), represents the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risks. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 
 
  2022             2021 

 AED             AED 
   

Fixed deposits 89,500,000  111,500,000 
Trade and retention receivables (including non-current portion) 49,474,248   46,900,224 
Cash at banks (including discontinued operation) 17,358,492 22,658,838 
Contract assets 2,288,827      5,511,448 
Deposits and other receivables (including non-current portion) 1,380,767        876,873 

 ---------------- ---------------- 
 160,002,334 187,447,383 
 ========= ========= 

 

Trade and retention receivables  
 

The details and extent of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and management estimates related to 
credit losses are listed in notes 3 and 4, respectively.  
 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, 
including the default risk of the industry and country in which the customers operate, as these 
factors may have an influence on credit risk. Credit period normally agreed with the customers is 
90 to 120 days (2021: 90 to 120 days). No interest is charged on trade receivables balances in the 
normal course of business. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk towards trade and retention receivables at the reporting date 
by geographic region was as follows: 

 2022   2021 
 AED  AED 
 

 UAE 49,080,379    46,614,265  
 GCC region (excluding UAE) 393,869   285,959 

  -------------- -------------- 
    49,474,248     46,900,224  

 ======== ======== 
The Group’s management has established a credit policy under which each new customer is 
analyzed individually for credit worthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery 
terms and conditions are offered. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which 
represents the maximum open amount without requiring approval from senior Group management. 
These limits are reviewed periodically. 
 

In monitoring credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including 
whether they are an individual or legal entity, geographic location, industry, aging profile, 
maturity and evidence of previous financial difficulties.  
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31.       Financial instruments (continued) 
 

 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Trade and retention receivables (continued) 
 

Expected credit loss assessment 
 

The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade and retention receivables. 
Loss rates are calculated based on the probability of a receivable progressing through successive 
stages of delinquency to write-off.   

 The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables and retention receivables: 

  

 
 

Weighted average 
 loss rate 

 
Gross 

 
Impairment 

Credit 
Impaired 

31 December 2022  AED AED  
     

0 to 180 days past due 1% 42,963,065 120,840 No 
181 to 365 days past due 5% 6,003,909 960,901 Yes 
More than 365 days past due 94% 16,860,314 16,860,314 Yes 

 -------------- --------------  
 65,827,288 17,942,055  

 ======== ========  
 

 
 

Weighted average 
 loss rate 

 
Gross 

 
Impairment 

Credit 
Impaired 

31 December 2021  AED AED  
     

0 to 180 days past due 0.25% 39,430,713 99,403 No 
181 to 365 days past due 1.68% 4,818,234 81,026 No 
More than 365 days past due 90.09% 20,237,887 18,231,890 Yes 

 -------------- --------------  
 64,486,834 18,412,319  

 ======== ========  
 

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the recent years. These rates are 
multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period 
over which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of 
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.  

 

Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and retention receivables during 
the year was as follows: 

 2022   2021 
 AED  AED 

 

 At 1 January 18,412,319 18,185,093  
Charge for the year 16,268     260,782 
Write-offs (486,532) (33,556) 

  -------------- -------------- 
 At 31 December  17,942,055     18,412,319 

 ======== ======== 
Balances with banks 
 

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis 
and reflects the short term maturities of the exposures. Given the profile of its bankers, 
management does not expect any counter party to fail to meet its obligations, as the bank balances 
are held with the banks of repute. 
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31.       Financial instruments (continued) 
 

b)   Liquidity risk  
 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 
payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements: 

At 31 December 2022 
Carrying  

amount 
Contractual 

cash flows 
Less than 1 

year 
1 to 5 
years 

5 years  
and above 

 AED AED AED AED AED 
Non-derivative financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables* 29,664,880 29,664,880 29,664,880 - - 
Lease liabilities 46,062,277 69,104,908   6,822,103 25,026,598 37,256,207 
 ------------- --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

  75,727,157   98,769,788   36,486,983   25,026,598   37,256,207  
 ======== ========= ======== ======== ======== 

      

At 31 December 2021 
Carrying  

amount 
Contractual 
cash flows 

Less than 1 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

5 years  
and above 

 AED AED AED AED AED 
Non-derivative financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables* 27,131,678 27,131,678 27,131,678 - - 
Bank borrowings 7,111,111 7,330,844 7,330,844 - - 
Lease liabilities 57,385,837 77,780,128 7,529,589 32,955,639 37,294,900 
 ------------- --------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 

 91,628,626 112,242,650 41,992,111 32,955,639 37,294,900 
 ========= ========= ======== ======== ======== 

* Excludes advances from customers and VAT payables. 
 

c) Market risk  
 

Currency risk 
 

Management closely monitors the risks arising out of exchange rate fluctuations. The Group does 
not have significant transactions in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency or 
currencies pegged to USD. 
 

Interest rate risk 
 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is primarily on bank borrowings and fixed deposits with 
banks. The interest rate on the Group’s financial instruments is based on prevailing market rates. 
 

At the reporting date, the profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:   
 

 2022 2021 
  AED AED 
 Fixed rate instruments 

 Financial assets 89,500,000 111,500,000 
Financial liabilities (46,062,277)  (57,385,837) 

  -------------- -------------- 
 Net exposure 43,437,723   54,114,163 
  ======== ======== 
 Variable rate instruments  
 Financial liabilities - (7,111,111) 
  ======== ========= 
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31.       Financial instrument (continued) 
 

c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 
 

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or 
loss. The investment in fixed rate instruments is limited up to a maturity period of one month to 
a maximum of twelve months. 
 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
 

The Group’s variable rate financial liabilities are exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due 
to changes in interest rates. An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date 
would have resulted in a decrease in profit for the year by AED Nil (2021: AED 0.07 million). A 
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have an equal and 
opposite effect on profits. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 
 

 

Equity risk – Sensitivity analysis 
All of the Group’s listed equity investments are listed on either the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange 
(“ADX”) or the Dubai Financial Markets (“DFM”). For such listed investments classified at 
FVOCI, a 10% decrease in the fair value of these investments in ADX and DFM at the reporting 
date would have resulted in a decrease in equity by AED 5.5 million (2021: AED 6.13 million) 
and an equal change in the opposite direction would have resulted in an increase in equity by the 
same amount. 
 

The Group’s unquoted equity securities have been valued using comparable sales method and are 
exposed to a risk of change in value due to changes in price of comparable equity securities. For 
such unquoted investments classified at FVOCI, a 10% decrease in the comparable sale price 
would have resulted in a decrease in equity by AED 0.16 million (2021: AED 0.16 million) and 
an equal change in the opposite direction would have resulted in an increase in equity by the same 
amount. 
 

Fair value 
 

The fair value of the Group 's financial assets and liabilities which are not recorded at fair value 
approximates their carrying value as at the reporting date. 
 
 

32.  Discontinued operation 
 

During 2015, to curtail losses incurred by a subsidiary, Emirates Ceramic Factory (“ECF”), the 
Board of Directors approved the closure of the subsidiary’s plant operations. Accordingly, the 
management has classified operational results of the subsidiary separately as discontinued 
operation. Results of the discontinued operation are as follows: 

 

Summary of financial performance 
 2022 2021 

 AED AED 
   

Revenue   -  1,071,330  
Cost of sales (refer (ii) below) -  (1,053,139) 
 ---------- ---------- 
Gross profit - 18,191 
Administrative expenses (13,791) (28,214) 
Selling and distribution expenses (5,326) (5,350) 
 ---------- ---------- 
Loss for the year from discontinued operation (19,117)  (15,373) 
 ====== ====== 
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32.  Discontinued operation (continued) 
 

Summary of financial position 

 
2022 
AED 

2021 
AED 

   

Inventories (refer (i) below) - - 
Advances -  2,623 
Prepayments 2,743 - 
Cash at banks 72,322  370,004 
 ---------- ---------- 
Assets related to discontinued operation 75,065 372,627 
 ---------- ---------- 
   

Liabilities related to discontinued operation (other payables) (5,424) (33,870) 
 ---------- ---------- 
Net assets related to discontinued operation 69,641 338,757 
 ====== ====== 
(i) Breakup of inventories is as set out below: 

 2022 2021 
 AED AED 

   

Finished goods 108,907 108,907 
Spare parts  2,487,054 2,487,054 
 -------------- -------------- 
 2,595,961 2,595,961 
Less: provision for slow-moving inventories (2,595,961) (2,595,961) 
 -------------- -------------- 
Inventories relating to discontinued operation - - 

 ======== ======== 
 

(ii) This includes reversal of allowance for slow moving inventories amounting to AED Nil 
million (2021: AED 0.37 million), which has been recorded in the statement of profit or 
loss for the year. 

 

33.       List of subsidiaries  
 

The financial position and the results of operations of the following subsidiaries are included in 
these consolidated financial statements: 
 

Name of  
Subsidiary 

Country of 
incorporation 

Ownership 
interest (%) 

Principal activities  
and products 

  2022 2021  

Fujairah Concrete 
Products 

UAE 100% 100% Manufacturing and selling of concrete 
blocks, interlocks and kerbstones. 

Fujairah National 
Quarry 

UAE 100% 100% Manufacturing and selling of quarry 
products. 

Fujairah Marbles and 
Tiles Factory 

UAE 100% 100% Manufacturing and selling of marble 
and tiles and contracting for 
installation of marble. 

Fujairah Rockwool 
Factory 

UAE 100% 100% Manufacturing and selling of 
rockwool products. 

Emirates Ceramics 
Factory (refer note 32) 

UAE 100% 100% Manufacturing and selling of ceramic 
tiles. 

 

  



 
 
Fujairah Building Industries P.J.S.C. and its subsidiaries 
 

Notes (continued) 
 

50 

34.       Segment reporting  
 

Basis for segmentation 
 

The Group has the following three strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. These 
divisions offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require 
different technology and marketing strategies. The following summary describes the operations 
of each reportable segment: 

 

Quarrying  Includes mining and sale of quarry products.  
 

Manufacturing  Includes manufacturing and supply of blocks, interlocks, kerbstones, 
ceramic tiles, rockwool insulation materials and marble and terrazzo tiles. 
Also includes contracting for supply and installation of marbles and 
terrazzo tiles. 

 

Others  Other operations include treasury and investment management functions. 
 
Discontinued operation Comprise of discontinued operation, ‘Emirates Ceramics Factory’, which 

has been discontinued since 2015 to curtail losses. Refer note 32.  
 

For the purpose of segment reporting, discontinued operation has been presented separately from 
the Group’s continuing operations. 
 

Integration between quarrying and manufacturing segments includes transfers of raw materials 
(quarry). Inter-segment pricing is determined on mutually agreed terms.
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34.    Segment reporting (continued) 
 

 

Information regarding the operations of each separate segment is included below: 
 Continuing operations   
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- Discontinued   
 Quarrying Manufacturing Other Total Eliminations Total Operation Total 
 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 

31 December 2022         
External revenue 9,812,322 161,616,604 - 171,428,926  171,428,926 - 171,428,926 
Inter segment revenue 8,386,103 500 - 8,386,603 (8,386,603) - - - 
 -------------- --------------- --- --------------- --------------- --------------- ------------- --------------- 
Segment revenue 18,198,425 161,617,104 - 179,815,529 (8,386,603) 171,428,926 - 171,428,926 
         

Segment profit/(Loss) (101,291) 16,531,173 906,298 17,336,180 - 17,336,180 - 17,336,180 
         

Finance income - 977,543 362,673 1,340,216 - 1,340,216 - 1,340,216 
         

Finance costs - (3,308,016) - (3,308,016) - (3,308,016) - (3,308,016) 
         

Impairment(loss) / reversal  on trade 
receivables 

(11,118) 481,382 - 470,264 - 470,264 - 470,264 

         

Depreciation expense 793,003 25,028,909 - 25,821,912 - 25,821,912 - 25,821,912 
         

Segment assets  18,498,781 312,437,622 317,825,386 648,761,789 (273,167,152) 375,594,637 42,971,943 418,566,580 
         

Segment liabilities 13,600,073 222,311,558 1,907,032 237,818,663 (151,167,152) 86,651,511 10,423 86,661,934 
         

Segment net assets 4,898,708 90,126,064 315,918,354 410,943,126 - 288,943,126 42,961,520 331,904,646 
         

31 December 2021         

External revenue 15,261,346 159,295,390 - 174,556,736 - 174,556,736 1,071,330 175,628,066 
Inter segment revenue 8,307,920 750 - 8,308,670 (8,308,670) - - - 
 -------------- --------------- --- --------------- --------------- --------------- ------------- --------------- 
Segment revenue 23,569,266 159,296,140 - 182,865,406 (8,308,670) 174,556,736 1,071,330 175,628,066 
         

Segment profit  509,900 23,628,029 1,493,895 25,631,824 - 25,631,824 (15,373) 25,616,451 
         

Finance income - 590,120 743,456 1,333,576 - 1,333,576 - 1,333,576 
         

Finance costs - (3,760,640) - (3,760,640) - (3,760,640) - (3,760,640) 
         

Impairment loss on trade receivables (10,501) (250,281) - (260,782) - (260,782) - (260,782) 
         

Depreciation expense (1,007,536) (26,074,396) (320,403) (27,402,335) - (27,402,335) - (27,402,335) 
         

Segment assets  15,369,169 322,181,035 333,794,514* 671,344,718 (211,049,912) 460,294,806 372,627 460,667,433 
         

Segment liabilities (10,035,747) (224,357,162) (1,957,720) (236,350,629) 131,499,841 (104,850,788) (33,870) (104,884,658) 
         

Segment net assets 5,333,422 97,823,873 331,836,794 434,994,089 (79,550,071) 355,444,018 338,757 355,782,775 
 

*  Segment assets in ‘others’ category mainly comprises of the Group’s treasury function which mainly includes investment in equity securities carried at FVOCI of AED 56.72 million 
(2021: AED 62.93 million), fixed deposits of AED 28 million (2021: AED 54 million) and cash and bank balances of AED 1 million (2021: AED 4.39 million). 
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35.       Accounting estimates and judgements 
 

Management has reviewed the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical 
accounting policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. Critical 
accounting estimates used by management in the preparation and presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements (other than those disclosed in the notes to the accounts) mainly 
relate to the below. 

 Provision for slow moving and obsolete inventories 

The Group reviews its inventory to assess loss on account of obsolescence and any write down for 
net realizable value adjustment on a regular basis. In determining whether a provision for 
obsolescence should be recorded in profit and loss, the Group makes judgments as to whether 
there is any observable data indicating that there is any future saleability of the product and the 
net realizable value for such product. Provision for net realizable value write down is made where 
the net realizable value is less than cost based on best estimates by management. The provision 
for obsolescence of inventory is based on its ageing and the past trend of consumption. 

 Impairment losses on receivables 

The Group reviews its receivables to assess impairment at least on an annual basis. The Group’s 
credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and retention receivables. In determining whether 
impairment losses should be reported in profit or loss, the Group makes judgments as to whether 
there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows. Accordingly, an allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss 
event or condition which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the 
recoverability of the cash flows. The Group’s estimation process for the determination of provision 
for impairment loss on trade receivables based on the ECL model is disclosed in note 3(m)(i). 
 

Estimated useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment 
 
The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and investment property 
based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful 
lives are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due 
to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the 
use of the assets. In addition, estimation of the useful lives of property and equipment is based on 
collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and on the historical 
experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be 
materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. 
The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in 
these factors and circumstances. 
 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  
 
Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment when there is an indication of impairment. 
Testing for impairment of property, plant and equipment requires management to estimate the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit. 
 

Lease term 
 

In determining the lease term, the Group applies the definition of a lease contract to determine the 
period for which the contract is enforceable. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the 
lease, together with:  
 

‐ Optional renewable periods, if the lessee is reasonably certain to extend; and 
‐ Periods after an optional termination date, if the lessee is reasonably certain not to terminate 

early. 
 

A lease is no longer enforceable when the lessee and the lessor each has the right to terminate the 
lease without permission from the other party, with no more than an insignificant penalty. 
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35.       Accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 

Lease term (continued) 
 
The management considers various facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to 
exercise the renewal option. Extension/renewal options (or periods after termination options) are 
only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 
The following factors are most relevant: 
 

- If there are significant penalties (contractual) to terminate (or not extend), the Group is typically 
reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate); 

- If the lease improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group is 
typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate); and 

- The Group also considers other factors including current market conditions, historical 
impairments on related CGUs, business strategy etc. 

 

In determining the lease term where the enforceability of the option solely rests with the Group, the 
management considers all aforementioned facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive 
to exercise the option. Extension/renewal options (or periods after termination options) are only 
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 
 

Investment in securities 
 

Investments are classified as investments carried at FVOCI. In judging whether investments are 
carried at FVTOCI, the management has considered the detailed criteria for determination of such 
classification as detailed in accounting policies. The management is satisfied that its investments in 
securities are appropriately classified as investments carried at FVOCI.  

 

Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following: 
 

– Recent arm’s length market transactions; 
– Current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 
– The expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for the items and with similar 

terms and risk characteristics; or 
– Other valuation models. 

 

Estimate of fair value of unquoted financial instruments 
 

The management uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable 
market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 13 provides 
detailed information about the key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of 
financial instruments, as well as the detailed sensitivity analysis for these assumptions. 
 

36.  Corporate tax - UAE 
 

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released the Federal Decree-Law No. 47 
of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (the Law) to enact a Federal 
Corporate Tax (CT) regime in the UAE.  The CT regime will become effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2023 (i.e. for the Group would be effective from 1 January 
2024). 
 
There are several decisions that are yet to be finalized by way of a Cabinet Decision that are 
significant in order for entities to determine their tax status, applicable tax rates and taxable 
income. Therefore, pending such important decisions, the Group has considered that the Law, 
as it currently stands, is not substantively enacted as at 31 December 2022 from the perspective 
of IAS 12 – Income Taxes. The Group shall continue to monitor the timing of the issuance of 
these critical Cabinet Decisions to determine their tax status and the application of IAS 12 – 
Income Taxes. The Group is currently in the process of assessing the potential impacts, both 
from current and deferred tax perspective, once the Law becomes substantively enacted. 
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37.       Comparative amounts 
 

Certain comparative figures have been regrouped/reclassified, where necessary, to conform to the 
presentation adopted in these consolidated financial statements. However, such reclassification has 
no material impact on the previously reported consolidated financial result or equity.  

 

38.       Purchase of shares 
 

The Company has not purchased quoted equity securities during the year ended 31 December 2022 
(2021:Nil). Also refer note 13. 
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Introduction



Introduction
Company Profile
Fujairah Building Industries PJSC (“FBI”) was established in 1979. Over the last several decades and since its IPO and listing on the Abu
Dhabi Securities Market ‘ADX’ in January 2007, the company has grown in leaps and bounds and caters to the dynamic markets in UAE
and the Middle East. FBI is one of the leading technology driven organizations in the construction sector, reputed for its quality products
and services.

Currently, the following companies fall under the Fujairah Building Industries umbrella:

 Fujairah Rockwool Factory (FRF)
 Fujairah Concrete Products (FCP)
 Fujairah Marble and Tiles Factory (FMTF)
 Fujairah National Quarry (FNQ)
 Emirates Ceramics Factory

Since its Foundation FBI has been committed to providing excellent quality of products and services to our clients while maintaining
sustainability and ensure its integration and application with at all levels of the company business.

Following the guidelines of ADX & SCA and as continuation to their efforts and initiative of promoting sustainability in PSC companies, FBI
is issuing its ESG Report for the year 2022 in accordance with the resolution (No 3/RM) of 2020 regarding the governance guidelines for
PSC companies.
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FBI’s Mission, Vision & Values
Mission
Our mission is to provide our clients with excellent quality products and cultivating successful and long-term partnerships with
them. We also will continue to encourage research and development among our subsidiary companies to ensure that the best
quality products are manufactured.

Vision
Our vision is to be the leading provider of various industrial and building products across the Middle East and continue to
provide our clients and the society we serve with premium service and products.

Values
Our core values are:

Providing excellent quality of products and services to our clients
Ensuring there is teamwork, respect and mutual encouragement among our subsidiaries and employees
Reliability and honesty when dealing with everyone
Protecting the environment and our employees
Ensuring we create a sustainable environment for our employees, society and the environment
Corporate Social Responsibility



FBI’s Commitment



FBI’s Commitment

As the market is continuously evolving, FBI
Group is consistently investing in research
& development to maintain international
standards of quality, to stay updated with
the evolving market trends, and innovate
products according to customers
requirements.

Research & Development

FBI is investing in its employees by
enhancing their knowledge and practical
experiences which is the way to implement
a sustainable environment in the company.

Enabling our Employees

FBI’s approach is to
promote the innovation
and the development of
its product and services
by creating a whole
bunch of sustainable and
environment friendly
products.

Innovation



Stakeholder Engagement



Stakeholder Engagement
 Sustainability, consistency with continuous improvement and innovation are underlying

objectives in everything we do. We endeavor to act, operate efficiently, transparently and deliver
our objectives. We remain committed to having a positive impact on our customers, employees,
suppliers, society and environment, while at the same time maintaining sustainable success.

 Our strategy for sustainability is largely driven with continuous engagement with stakeholders,
which enables us to understand their priorities and expectations from us and align with our
business practices and corporate priorities. We regularly engage with our key stakeholder
groups to help shape and drive our sustainability strategy.

Key Stakeholders

Govt. & Local Authorities Community Shareholders Customers Suppliers Employees
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Material ESG Goals that matter to FBI

Environment

E1. GHG Emissions
E2. Emissions Intensity
E3. Energy Usage
E4. Energy Intensity
E6. Water Usage
E7. Environmental Operations
E8. Environmental Oversight
E9. Environmental Oversight
E10. Climate Risk Mitigation

Social

S1. - CEO Pay Ratio
S2. - Gender Pay ratio
S3. - Employee Turnover
S4. - Gender Diversity
S6. - Non- Discrimination
S7. - Injury Rate
S8. - Global Health & Safety
S9. - Child & Forced Labour
S10. - Human Rights
S11. - Nationalization

Governance

G.1 - Board Diversity
G.2 - Board Independence
G.4 - Supplier Code of Conduct
G.5 - Ethics & Prevention of corruption
G.6 - Data Privacy
G.8 Disclosure Practices

FBI’s ESG 
Key Goals



ESG Report



Environment



ESG Report - Environment
 FBI Group understands that it is has a responsibility to care for the environment, and as a result of this
responsibility the company and its units invested in research & development to reach a very sustainable
approach for the environment.
 FBI subsidiaries are certified as follows: Fujairah Rockwool Factory (FRF) is certified by ISO 9001 for
Quality Assurance, ISO 14001 for Environmental Management, OHSAS 18001 for Occupational Health and
Safety, while Fujairah Concrete Products (FCP) is certified with ICV, ISO 45001:2018, ISO 14001: 2015, and
ISO 9001: 2015. These entities are also Members of Emirates Green Building Council.
 The projects that FBI has invested in to protect the environment are as follows:

• Group has established Emission Controls and Heat Reduction facility in FRF to eliminate emission of harmful gases in the
environment making the complete process environment friendly. Further, an Emission Monitoring Systems in place that track all
emissions in the factory to maintain FRF’s emission levels lower than industrial standards.

• Significant investment was made in FRF to recycle the manufacturing waste by converting them into briquettes which are used
in production of rockwool. As a result, we are proud to say that we have zero landfill.

• We are investing in building Grey Water Recycle System in FCP to ensures zero water wastage. This will help to reduce
freshwater consumption to a great extent.

 FRF products are sustainable as they are produced from natural igneous rocks, non-combustible, eco-
friendly and biodegradable. These products helps in energy conversation, heat reduction and temperature
control which reduce the consumption of energy. Our FRF products has obtained various certificates such as
ICV, ADQCC, Certificate from Dubai Municipality, Warrington Certification etc.
 FRF Continuously investing in innovation and developed new product firesafe products for Construction
industry and Hydroponic products Agriculture sector.
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ESG Report - Social
 FBI group has been committed to its social responsibility by making the balance between the
needs of the society, stakeholders, employees and the main business.

 The group has approached many initiatives including attribution to the many social events in
the emirate of Fujairah and contributing to the government efforts of Emiratization.

 FBI contributes to the efforts of Government of Fujairah and Fujairah Foundation for Regional
Development (FFRD) to help the citizens of Fujairah with the construction and renovation of their
homes.

 The young Emirati workforce has been placed within our units for further training to equip them
with industry-ready skills. This has been an ongoing activity for many years now.



ESG Report – Social (Cont’d)

Matric Parameters Outcome/Response
S1. CEO Pay Ratio S1.1) Ratio: CEO total compensation to median Full Time Equivalent 

(FTE) total compensation 10.76

S2. Gender Pay ratio Ratio: Median male compensation to median female compensation 17.60

S3. Employee Turnover S3.1) Percentage: Year-over-year change for full-time employees 4%

S4. Gender Diversity S4.1) Percentage: Total enterprise headcount held by men and 
women 90% Men, 10% Women

S6. Non- Discrimination Does company follow non-discrimination policy? Yes/No We follow UAE Laws & Regulations

S7. Injury Rate Percentage: Frequency of injury events relative to total workforce time 0%

S8. Global Health & Safety Does company follow an occupational health and/or global health & 
safety policy? Yes/No Yes

S9. Child & Forced Labour S9.1) Does company follow a child and/or forced labor policy? Yes/No We follow UAE Laws & Regulations

S10. Human Rights S10.1) Does company follow a human rights policy? Yes/No We follow UAE Laws & Regulations

S11. Nationalization Percentage of national employees 4.14%
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ESG Report - Governance
 The Group follows and complies with the governance rule mention in the chairman
resolution No 3/Rm of 2020.
Matric Parameters Outcome/Response

G.1 Board Diversity
G1.1) Percentage: Total board seats occupied by 
men and women
G1.2) Percentage: Committee chairs occupied by 
men and women

100% men. BOD has no women member since no nomination was received in the last BOD 
election held in March 2018 and March 2021.

G.2 Board 
Independence

G2.1) Does company prohibit CEO from serving 
as board chair? Yes/No
G2.2) Percentage: Total board seats occupied by 
independent board members

The Board of Directors is comprised of seven members most of them independent and 
nonexecutives.

G.4 Supplier Code 
of Conduct

S3.1) Percentage: Year-over-year change for full-
G4.1) Are vendors or suppliers required to follow 
a Code of Conduct? Yes/ No

We have established detailed terms and conditions which are applied to all our external 
procurements. These standard terms and conditions includes supplier code of conduct to ensure 
ethical and fair business practices.

G.5 Ethics & 
Prevention of 
corruption

- There are two committee established by the Board: 1. Audit committee and 2. Nomination and 
remuneration committee. Board, Board Committees and Group Management collectively drive the 
culture of Ethics and integrity across the Group and while dealing with external parties.
- Board has established two functions independent from the Group Management (1. Group Internal 
Audit and 2. Group Compliance) to ensure that Group is compliance with regulatory requirements 
and Group complies with established policies and procedures.

G.6 Data Privacy G6.1) Does company follow a Data Privacy 
policy? Yes/No

FBI has established set of policies to ensure data privacy:
- Information Security Policy
- User Access Control Policy
- Internet Security Policy
- Physical and Environment Security Policy
- Network Security Policy.
Collectively these policy drives the culture and ensure data privacy across the Group

G.8 Disclosure 
Practices

The company discloses its outcome of its general assembly meetings, BOD meeting and Financial 
Results to the shareholders on company website and ADX website.




